IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jun 05 2023 03:30PM EDT Transaction ID 70141715

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

Supreme Court No.: 23-120
Case No. CC-44-2021-f-60
Circuit Court of Roane County

SEAN ALLEN TAYLOR,

Defendant Below, Petitioner.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

ANDREW D. MENDELSON West Virginia State Bar #9138 Appellate Counsel Appellate Advocacy Division Public Defender Services One Players Club Drive, Suite 301 Charleston, WV 25311 (304) 558-3905 andrew.d.mendelson@wv.gov

Counsel for Petitioner

v.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A police officer pulled over Petitioner for an expired motor vehicle inspection sticker. Due to the stop, he charged Petitioner with driving while revoked for DUI and other offenses. However, sixteen months prior, the governor had rescinded the motor vehicle inspection requirement due to COVID. Was the officer's mistake-occurring sixteen months after the law changed-objectively reasonable, or was the stop unlawful under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Governor Justice issued Executive Order No. 7-20 on March 19, 2020, during the State of Emergency from the COVID-19 pandemic. It stated, "the following statutory regulations are to be suspended… 14. Deadlines for annual vehicle inspections (W.Va. Code § 17C-16-1, et seq.).1

On July 9, 2021, West Virginia State Trooper Josh Mack observed Petitioner hauling a minivan and displaying an expired 2018 motor vehicle inspection sticker.² Trooper Mack conducted a traffic stop after inquiry, Petitioner was arrested for Driving while Revoked for DUI, no proof of insurance and an expired motor vehicle inspection sticker.

The preliminary hearing was held on July 22, 2021, Trooper Mack testified that he pulled Petitioner over because he observed an expired 2018 motor vehicle inspection (MVI sticker).³ He knew of no other motor vehicle violations until initiating the stop and running Petitioner's driver information:

STATE: All right. And what was Mr. Taylor's operator's

status?

TROOPER MACK: It's been revoked for DUI. STATE: All right. And how did you know that?

TROOPER MACK: I requested through Roane County

² A.R. 0017

1

¹ A.R. 0043.

³ A.R. 0021

telecommunications and had an inquiry done on his driver's history, which revealed multiple convictions for driving while revoked, DUI. More specifically, he had multiple convictions on a revoked third offense.

In cross-examination, the officer stated he initiated the stop due to the inspection sticker, and was unaware that inspection stickers were no longer required due to the COVID emergency:

> DEFENSE: Trooper, you stated that you pulled Mr. Taylor over because you observed a expired motor vehicle inspection?

TROOPER MACK: The sticker, yes ma'am.

DEFENSE: Okay. And that was on July 9th, 2021?

TROOPER MACK: I believe July 9th was the date.

DEFENSE: Okay. Trooper, are you aware of a current executive order signed by Governor Jim Justice putting a stay on requirements for motor vehicle

inspections?

TROOPER MACK: Excuse me?

DEFENSE: Again, are you aware of an executive order signed by Governor Justice implementing a stay on the requirement to have updated motor vehicle inspections?

TROOPER MACK: Of any changes in the law, I'm not.

DEFENSE: Okay. Are you aware of any executive orders pursuant to COVID-19

that the governor has implemented in regard to these types of things?

TROOPER MACK: As in like the DMV holds that were lifted? Now you can schedule hearings—the DMVs---which DMVs don't do inspections; it's just an example. You're talking about how Covid affected traffic and ability?

DEFENSE: Right. Specifically— TROOPER MACK: Yes, absolutely.⁴

The court found probable cause and stated," The fact that the traffic stop---that could be

brought up in a suppression issue, if need be, in circuit court if that time ever arises."⁵

To the grand jury, Trooper Mack departed from earlier testimony that he learned about Petitioner's driving history only after initiating the stop.

STATE: How did you become involved in this investigation?

TROOPER MACK: I was conducting patrol on Harmony Road. I was traveling toward 119 and I observed a vehicle traveling in my direction. It was a Chevy pickup truck and it had an extremely expired MVI sticker. I then observed one of the Taylor brothers driving

2

⁴ A.R. 0021-0022

⁵ A.R. 0025

it, which I did know both had no legal license at the time, so I turned on that vehicle and conducted a traffic stop on it for that MVI.⁶

The grand jury indicted Petitioner on three counts, Driving while license revoked for DUI, Third offense, driving without insurance and failure to display MVI.⁷ Petitioner's defense counsel filed a motion to suppress, because at the time of the stop, the statutory requirement for motor vehicles inspections (and stickers) had been suspended. Trooper Mack's stop of Petitioner was illegal, and all evidence and information gained as a result of this illegal stop should be suppressed.⁸

Rather than rely upon the officer's historically-revised grand jury testimony, the State did not dispute the facts as presented by Petitioner in the motion to suppress. The State agreed the officer initiated the stop due to an expired inspection sticker at a time when said requirements were suspended. The State argued that the justification for the stop was clearly a "mistake of law" as discussed in *Heien v. North Carolina* and *Frazier v. Stire* but was objectively reasonable. The law enforcement officer was unaware the governor had suspended the law upon which he based the stop. 12

Petitioner's counsel replied that the law enforcement officer's lack of knowledge of the suspension of the MVI law was not a mistake of law and if it was, it certainly was not objectively reasonable.¹³ The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing.¹⁴

⁶ A.R. 0004

⁷ A.R. 0008-0009

⁸ A.R.0010-0011

⁹ A.R. 0013

¹⁰ Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54 (2014)

¹¹ Frazier v. Stire, No. 19-0411, 2020 WL 6624968, at *1 (W. Va. Nov. 12, 2020) (memorandum decision).

¹² A.R. 0013

¹³ A.R. 0029-0040

¹⁴ A.R. 0041

Petitioner then entered a guilty plea conditional on his appeal of the traffic stop¹⁵

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Trooper stopped Petitioner because he believed that Petitioner's expired MVI sticker violated West Virginia law. He was wrong. His mistake-missing that the governor, who at the time addressed the public daily, had suspended motor vehicle inspections-was not reasonable, and could not justify Petitioner's stop.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner's counsel believes this case is an issue of first impression, involves a constitutional question regarding the validity of the lower court's ruling and certainly involves an issue of fundamental public importance. Petitioner's conditional plea gives this Court the opportunity to formally adopt *Heien's* rule regarding traffic stops. ¹⁶ Therefore, Petitioner requests a Rule 20 argument and a signed opinion declaring that the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 6 of Article III of the West Virginia Constitution will not excuse a law enforcement officer's ignorance of the law in making a traffic stop.

ARGUMENT

An officer's ignorance about a sixteen-month-old change to the law is not objectively reasonable, his stop of Petitioner was unreasonable and the Court should reverse.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution reads: "The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported

¹⁵ A.R. 0085-0087

¹⁶ State v. Lilly, 194 W.Va. 595, 606-07, 461 S.E.2d 101, 112-13 (1995) (Cleckley, J., concurring)(stating the benefits of conditional pleas); see also Class v. U.S., 138 S. Ct. 798, 803 (2018).

by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or things to be seized."¹⁷

It is reasonable within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment to stop a vehicle if police observe a motor vehicle violation. Even if the officer is mistaken and no crime has occurred, a stop only violates the Fourth Amendment if the officer's mistake of law is unreasonable. 19

When reviewing a circuit court's decision whether to suppress evidence under the Fourth Amendment, this Court reviews its factual determinations under the clearly erroneous standard and mistakes of law *de novo*.²⁰

The parties below did not materially dispute the facts. The only issue for this Court to decide is whether the police officer's mistake of law was reasonable, and this could justify the stop. Petitioner sought a conditional plea, and appeals to this Court, because the officer's mistake was unreasonable.

The court below relied upon *Heien v. North Carolina* in finding that the officer's mistake of law was reasonable.²¹ It was mistaken. In *Heien*, the Supreme Court of the United States held that a traffic stop was lawful if the officer's mistaken belief the vehicle had violated the law was nonetheless reasonable.²² There, the North Carolina officer initiated a stop because one of the defendant's brake lights were out.²³ However, the North Carolina Court of Appeals later interpreted the law in question as only requiring one functioning brake light.²⁴ The State appealed and the North Carolina Supreme Court

¹⁷ U.S. Const. Amend. IV; accord. W.Va. Const. Art. III, § 6.

¹⁸ Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Stuart, 192 W.Va.428, 452 S.E.2d 886 (1994).

¹⁹ Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 67 (2014).

²⁰ State v. Deem, 849 S.E.2d 918, 923 (W.Va. 2020).

²¹ A.R. 0044

²² Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 67 (2014).

²³ *Id* at 57

²⁴ *Id* at 57

reversed finding the stop lawful because it was not patently obvious from the two competing statutes that one dead brake light was not a basis for a lawful stop. The North Carolina officer's mistaken understanding of the vehicle code was reasonable, and the stop was valid.²⁵ The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari and held that the officer's mistake of law was reasonable based on the competing statutes. The court made clear, however, that this is an objective test. Unless it is objectively reasonable, an officer's subjective mistake- no matter how innocently made- does not excuse an unlawful stop.²⁶ This reasoning condemns, rather than excuses, the officer's mistake in this case. The governor's executive order was clear. The following statutory regulations were suspended for the duration of the State of Emergency...Number 14. Deadlines for annual vehicle inspections. The governor issued this suspension of the law prior to the stop, rather than the after-the-fact judicial re-interpretation in *Heien*.²⁷

Therefore, there was no existent ambiguity upon which the officer could have reasonably reached the wrong legal conclusion. Furthermore, this was not even a recent change that could of caught the officer off guard. The governor declared the COVID emergency and suspended vehicle inspections sixteen months prior to the stop.²⁸ It is unreasonable for a law enforcement officer to be unfamiliar with the law he is to enforce for that long. He had no lawful basis for stopping Petitioner, and the evidence he gleaned from the stop must be suppressed. "[A]n officer can gain no Fourth Amendment advantage through a sloppy study of the laws he is duty-bound to enforce."²⁹

_

²⁵ Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 60 (2014).

²⁶ *Id.* at 67.

²⁷ Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 67(2014).

²⁸ A.R. 0088

²⁹ *Id.* at 67.

CONCLUSION

Therefore, this Court should reverse the lower court's ruling denying the motion to suppress. In the early days of the COVID pandemic, most West Virginians tuned in daily for the governor's updates. They provided the most up-to-date news, unified, and reassured the citizens in a time of unprecedented uncertainty. But even if the governor had not-literally-told all West Virginians he was suspending vehicle inspection requirements, the law was nonetheless clear. The officer ought to have known he could not, during the state of emergency, stop vehicles for inspection sticker violations. However innocent his mistake, it was unreasonable. This stop was illegal and the lower court should have thrown out its fruits.