## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 23-120

SCA EFiled: Jul 20 2023 03:16PM EDT Transaction ID 70443823

#### STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

SEAN ALLEN TAYLOR,

Petitioner.

# **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

Appeal from the Magistrate Court of Roane County Case No. 21-F-60

## PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

Jason David Parmer[WVSB No. 8005] Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Appellate Division 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Telephone: (304) 558-5830 Facsimile: (304) 558-5833 Email: Jason.D.Parmer@wvago.gov Counsel for Respondent

Page

Summary of the Argument
Statement Regarding Oral Argument and Decision
Argument
A. Standard of Review
B. Trooper Mack had reasonable suspicion that the driver did not have a valid driver's license
C. Trooper Mack made an objectively reasonable mistake of law when he conducted the traffic stop
Conclusion

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# Cases

Barnett v. Wolfolk, 149 W. Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 466 (1965)
Commonwealth v. Deramo, 762 N.E.2d 815 (Mass. 2002)7
Cumberland Chevrolet Oldsmobile Cadillac, Inc. v. Gen. Motors Corp., 187 W. Va. 535, 420 S.E.2d 295 (1992)
<i>State ex rel. Dandy v. Thompson</i> , 148 w. Va. 263, 134 S.E.2d 730 (1964)
<i>Deboy v. Commonwealth,</i> 214 S.W.3d 926 (Ky. Ct. App. 2007)
Desper v. State, 173 W. Va. 494, 318 S.E.2d 437 (1984)7
Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54 (2014)
State v. Decoteau, 681 N.W.2d 803 (N. D. 2004)
State v. Gibson, 665 P.2d 1302 (Utah 1983)
<i>State v. Harris</i> , 513 S.E.2d 1 (Ga. Ct. App. 1999)7
State v. Lilly, 194 W. Va. 595, 461 S.E.2d 101 (1995)5
<i>State v. Nunez</i> , 455 S.W.3d 529 (Mo. Ct. App. 2015)
State v. Sallis, 981 N.W.2d 336 (Iowa 2022)
State v. Stuart, 192 W. Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886 (1994)5, 6, 7, 9

<i>State v. Yeargan</i> , 958 S.W.2d 626 (Tenn. 1997)7
<i>United States v. Pierre</i> , 484 F.3d 75 (1st Cir. 2007)7
United States v. Smart, 393 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2005)
Statutes
W. Va. Code § 17C-16-1
W. Va. Code § 17C-16-510
W. Va. Code § 17C-16-610
W. Va. Code § 17C-16-810
W. Va. Code § 17C-16-9
Other Authorities
Office of the Governor, http://governor.wv.gov/Pages/Search.aspx?q=7-20 (last visited July 12, 2023)

visited suly 12	2, 2023)	<i>,</i>
W. Va. R. App. P	. 18(a)(3) and (4)	;

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The State of West Virginia, by counsel, responds to Petitioner Sean Allen Taylor's brief. Petitioner challenges a traffic stop where he was charged with third offense driving on a revoked license for DUI, no insurance, and an expired motor vehicle inspection [MVI] sticker. Petitioner argues that he should not have been stopped for an expired inspection sticker because the Governor's COVID Executive Order in effect at the time suspended deadlines for inspections. But the officer who stopped Petitioner had a reasonable articulable suspicion that a crime was occurring, because he recognized the driver as either Petitioner or Petitioner's brother, and he knew that neither one of them had a valid license. Further, it was objectively reasonable for the officer to believe that an expired inspection sticker is a crime that justifies the traffic stop because the Governor's COVID order is ambiguous. This Court should affirm.

#### **ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

A police officer pulled over Petitioner for an expired motor vehicle inspection sticker. Due to the stop, he charged Petitioner with driving while revoked for DUI and other offenses. However, sixteen months prior, the governor had rescinded the motor vehicle inspection requirement due to COVID. Was the officer's mistakeoccurring sixteen months after the law changed-objectively reasonable, or was the stop unlawful under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution?

Pet'r's Br. 1.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 9, 2021, West Virginia State Police Trooper Josh Mack was "conducting patrol on Harmony Road" in Roane County when he encountered Petitioner traveling in his direction. App. 3. During his testimony before the grand jury, Trooper Mack described his encounter with Petitioner as follows –

I observed a vehicle traveling in my direction. It was a Chevy pickup truck and it had an extremely expired MVI [motor vehicle inspection] sticker. I then observed

one of the Taylor brothers driving it, which I did know both had no legal license at that time, so I turned on that vehicle and conducted a traffic stop on it for that MVI.

App. 3-4. During the stop, Mack confirmed his initial suspicion that Petitioner's license was revoked for DUI, and further determined that Petitioner had no insurance on his vehicle and his inspection sticker expired in 2018. App. 4-5, 17. Mack further testified that Petitioner had two prior convictions in Roane County for driving revoked for DUI; the dates of these previous convictions are August 11, 2014 and March 26, 2018. App. 5.

At the preliminary hearing, Mack testified that Petitioner had "multiple convictions for driving while revoked, DUI. App. 17. More specifically, he had multiple convictions on a revoked third offense." App. 17-18. When asked what county those convictions were from, Mack testified "I'd have to refer to my Complaint for it, but I know for sure there was convictions in Roane County." App. 18. Two certified disposition orders were admitted at the preliminary hearing showing Petitioner had been twice convicted in Roane County for driving revoked for DUI. App. 19-20.

Petitioner unsuccessfully argued at the preliminary hearing that Mack's traffic stop was invalid because the Governor's Executive Order 7-20 (hereinafter referred to as the Governor's COVID order) suspended deadlines for motor vehicle inspections. App. 21-23, 88-90. During questioning on this issue, Mack indicated he was not aware of any changes in the law related to motor vehicle inspections. App. 21-22. When questioned about his knowledge of the Governor's COVID order, Mack expressed uncertainty whether West Virginia was still in a state of emergency in July 2021. App. 22. Mack further testified that he "got an inspection sticker in the middle of COVID," and that as far as he knew, Petitioner was required to have a valid MVI sticker when he stopped him. App. 22-23. At the conclusion of the preliminary hearing, Petitioner's counsel argued that Mack "is clearly unaware of" the effect of the Governor's COVID order. App. 24. On July 20,

2021, Executive Order 23-21 rescinded the portion of the Governor's COVID order pertaining to motor vehicle inspections, effective October 1, 2021. 2021 WV Reg. Text 589266. The magistrate court found probable cause, and Petitioner subsequently was indicted for Third Offense Driving While License Revoked for DUI, Driving without Insurance, and Failure to Display MVI. App. 8-9, 25.

After his indictment, Petitioner filed a motion to suppress evidence from the traffic stop, alleging that the sole basis for the stop was an expired MVI sticker. App. 10. Despite having an inspection sticker that expired in 2018, Petitioner argued an expired MVI sticker was not a valid reason for a traffic stop because the Governor's COVID order suspended deadlines for motor vehicle inspections during the COVID state of emergency. App. 10-12, 17, 29-40, 88-90. The State filed a response to Petitioner's motion, arguing that Trooper Mack made an objectively reasonable mistake of law when he stopped Petitioner. App. 13. Petitioner's motion to suppress does not address Mack's testimony before the grand jury that he recognized the driver as "one of the Taylor brothers," neither of whom had a valid driver's license. App. 3-4, 10-12, 29-40. After reviewing the parties' briefs, the circuit court found Mack made an objectively reasonable mistake of law and dismissed the MVI charge. App. 41-45.

When the court ruled Mack made an objectively reasonable mistake of law regarding the status of the MVI statute, it found the Governor's COVID order did not clearly and unambiguously inform Trooper Mack that he could not enforce West Virginia Code § 17C-16-9. App. 43-44. The language of the Executive Order states "the following statutory regulations are to be suspended … 14. [d]eadlines for annual vehicle inspections (W. Va. Code § 17C-16-1, et seq.)." App. 90. But the court found the COVID order's citation of West Virginia Code § 17C-16-1 et seq. "encompasses a much broader scope of laws than just those pertaining to deadlines for

inspections." App. 44. The court agreed that the Executive Order suspended West Virginia Code § 17C-16-9, but found it "difficult to fathom" that the order intended to suspend all of Article 16, including "the prohibition against issuing counterfeit certificates [of inspection] or suspend the State Police's authority to revoke or suspend a stations permit to issue certificates of inspection." App. 43-44 (citing W. Va. Code §§ 17C-16-6, 17C-16-8). The court concluded that "the ambiguous language and lack of clarity in the Executive Order's statutory citation leave numerous interpretations regarding which subsections were suspended. Therefore, it was reasonable for Trooper Mack to believe that [Petitioner's] expired inspection sticker violated the law...." App. 44.

After the court denied Petitioner's motion to suppress, Petitioner entered a conditional guilty plea to Count One – Third Offense Driving Revoked for DUI. App. 46-54. As a result of his guilty plea, and his "lengthy consistent history of serious driving offenses," including a prior conviction for Third Offense Driving Revoked for DUI, Petitioner was sentenced to 1-3 years in prison. App. 82, 85-87.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The traffic stop in question is valid because Trooper Mack had a reasonable suspicion that the driver did not have a valid driver's license. This suspicion was independent of Mack's belief that Petitioner was driving with an expired inspection sticker. Further, Mack was not aware that the Governor's COVID Executive Order prevented enforcement of motor vehicle inspection laws, and this was an objectively reasonable mistake of law.

## STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a)(3) and (4), oral argument is unnecessary because the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and the record. Accordingly, this case is appropriate for resolution by memorandum decision.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. Standards of review.

"On appeal, legal conclusions made with regard to suppression determinations are reviewed *de novo*. Factual determinations upon which these legal conclusions are based are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. In addition, factual findings based, at least in part, on determinations of witness credibility are accorded great deference. Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Stuart*, 192 W. Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886 (1994).

Under the clearly erroneous standard, a circuit court's decision ordinarily will be affirmed unless it is unsupported by substantial evidence; based on an erroneous interpretation of applicable law; or, in light of the entire record, this Court is left with a firm and definite conviction that a mistake has been made.

*State v. Lilly*, 194 W. Va. 595, 600, 461 S.E.2d 101, 106 (1995) (footnote omitted). Further, when this Court the denial of a motion to suppress, it considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution. *Id.* 

# B. Trooper Mack had reasonable suspicion that the driver did not have a valid driver's license.

Trooper Mack properly conducted the traffic stop because he had a reasonable suspicion that the driver did not have a valid license. "Police officers may stop a vehicle to investigate if they have an articulable reasonable suspicion that the vehicle is subject to seizure or a person in the vehicle has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *Stuart*, 192 W. Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886. "When evaluating whether or not particular facts establish

reasonable suspicion, one must examine the totality of the circumstances, which includes both the quantity and quality of the information known by the police." Syl. Pt. 2, *Stuart*. Mack's experience as a police officer is "significant in determining reasonable suspicion." *Stuart*, 192 W. Va. at 433, 452 S.E.2d at 891, n.10. Reasonable suspicion is a

less demanding standard than probable cause not only in the sense that reasonable suspicion can be established with information that is different in quantity or content than that required to establish probable cause, but also in the sense that reasonable suspicion can arise from information that is less reliable than that required to show probable cause.

Id. at 432, 452 S.E.2d at 890 (quoting Alabama v. White, 496 U.S. 325, 330 (1990)).

In this case, Trooper Mack testified before the grand jury that he recognized the driver of a truck to be either Petitioner or Petitioner's brother; Mack knew that neither one of them had a valid driver's license. App. 3-4. Mack's prior knowledge of Petitioner and his driving record provided him with reasonable suspicion for the waffic stop. App. 3-4. Mack's memory of Petitioner's driving record is corroborated by the court's finding that Petitioner had a "lengthy consistent history of serious driving offenses" and at least one prior conviction for Third Offense Driving Revoked for DUI. App. 67-68, 81-82. Petitioner had two prior convictions in Roane County for Driving Revoked for DUI, and a prior conviction for Third Offense Driving Revoked for DUI, before he was stopped in this case. App. 18-19, 81-82. In a small community like Roane County, it is not surprising Mack knew Petitioner did not have a valid driver's license when he stopped him. Thus, this Court may conclude that Mack's prior knowledge of Petitioner's driving record provided him with reasonable suspicion to stop Petitioner. See State v. Sallis, 981 N.W.2d 336, 344-45 (Iowa 2022) (holding that an officer's knowledge that a driver's license is suspended provides reasonable suspicion for a traffic stop); Deboy v. Commonwealth, 214 S.W.3d 926, 928-29 (Ky. Ct. App. 2007) (same); State v. Nunez, 455 S.W.3d 529, 531 (Mo. Ct. App. 2015) (same);

United States v. Pierre, 484 F.3d 75, 83-84 (1st Cir. 2007) (same); State v. Decoteau, 681 N.W.2d 803 (N. D. 2004) (same); State v. Harris, 513 S.E.2d 1, 3 (Ga. Ct. App. 1999) (same); Commonwealth v. Deramo, 762 N.E.2d 815, 817-19 (Mass. 2002) (same); State v. Yeargan, 958 S.W.2d 626, 633 (Tenn. 1997) (same); State v. Gibson, 665 P.2d 1302, 1304 (Utah 1983) (same). Mack recognized that Petitioner or his brother was driving and he had reason to know that neither one of them had a valid license. Thus, Mack had reasonable suspicion to stop Petitioner that was independent of his expired inspection sticker. Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Stuart, 192 W. Va. 428, 452 S.E.2d 886.

In his appeal, Petitioner attempts to minimize Mack's testimony before the grand jury as "historically-revised" and claims, without citation to the record, that Mack "departed from earlier testimony that he learned about Petitioner's driving history only after initiating the stop." Pet'r's Br. 2-3. Petitioner instead relies upon Mack's testimony at Petitioner's preliminary hearing, in which Petitioner's counsel focused her questions on the expired inspection sticker and the Governor's COVID order. App. 16-23.

Trooper Mack spent very little time testifying at the preliminary hearing, and the fact that he did not mention his prior knowledge of Petitioner's driving record at the preliminary hearing does not mean he fabricated his testimony before the grand jury as Petitioner implies. Pet'r's Br. 2-3. "A preliminary hearing is ordinarily a much less searching exploration into the merits of a case than a trial, simply because its function is the more limited one of determining whether probable cause exists to hold the accused for trial." *Desper v. State*, 173 W. Va. 494, 498, 318 S.E.2d 437, 441 (1984) (quoting *Barber v. Page*, 390 U.S. 719, 725 (1968)). In other words, the State was not obligated to present all of its evidence at the preliminary hearing regarding the basis for the traffic stop.

Despite Petitioner's insinuation that Mack had a sinister motive when testifying before the grand jury, no one at the preliminary hearing specifically asked Mack about his prior knowledge of Petitioner's driving record before the traffic stop. Pet'r's Br. 2-3. Importantly, the Appendix Record does not support Petitioner's claim that, in his testimony before the grand jury, Mack "departed from earlier testimony that he learned about Petitioner's driving history only after initiating the stop." Pet'r's Br. 2. The mere fact that Mack's prior knowledge of Petitioner's driving record did not come up at the preliminary hearing does not discredit his testimony before the grand jury. In sum, Mack had reasonable suspicion that a crime was occurring when he stopped Petitioner and the court did not err when it denied Petitioner's motion to suppress.

Even though the court did not adopt this rationale in its denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress, this Court has consistently held that, on appeal, it may "[a]ffirm the judgment of the lower court when it appears that such judgment is correct on any legal ground disclosed by the record, regardless of the ground, reason or theory assigned by the lower court as the basis for its judgment." Syl. Pt. 3, *Barnett v. Wolfolk*, 149 W. Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 466 (1965); *see also Cumberland Chevrolet Oldsmobile Cadillac, Inc. v. Gen. Motors Corp.*, 187 W. Va. 535, 538, 420 S.E.2d 295, 298 n. 4 (1992) (stating that "even if the reasoning of a trial court is in error ... we are not bound by a trial court's erroneous reasoning"); *State ex rel. Dandy v. Thompson*, 148 w. Va. 263, 274, 134 S.E.2d 730, 737 (1964) (stating in criminal context that "correctness ... of [trial court's] final action is the only material consideration, not the stated reasons for [the trial court's] taking such action."). Thus, this Court should affirm the lower court's denial of the motion to suppress because the court correctly found the traffic stop to be valid.

# C. Trooper Mack made an objectively reasonable mistake of law when he conducted the traffic stop.

Despite Mack's knowledge that Petitioner did not have a valid driver's license, Petitioner submits that Mack should not have stopped Petitioner for driving with an expired inspection sticker because the Governor's COVID order suspended the statute requiring motor vehicle inspections [MVI]. Pet'r's Br. 1-7, App. 88-90. Mack observed Petitioner driving with an inspection sticker that expired in 2018, well before the declaration of the COVID-19 State of Emergency. App. 3-4, 43.

Operating a vehicle without a current inspection sticker is a misdemeanor. W. Va. Code § 17C-16-9. "Police officers may stop a vehicle to investigate if they have an articulable reasonable suspicion that the vehicle is subject to seizure or a person in the vehicle has committed, is committing, or is about to commit a crime." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *Stuart*. Even if the COVID order suspended the inspection statute in question, Mack's reasonable suspicion can be based upon an objectively reasonable mistake of law. *Heien v. North Carolina*, 574 U.S. 54 (2014) (holding that reasonable suspicion, as required for a traffic stop, can rest on an objectively reasonable mistake of law. Whether a mistake of law was objectively reasonable "is not to be made with the vision of hindsight, but instead by looking to what the officer reasonably knew at the time." *United States v. Smart*, 393 F.3d 767, 770 (8th Cir. 2005).

Mack testified he was not aware of any changes in law affecting deadlines for motor vehicle inspections. App. 21-22. When questioned about his knowledge of the Governor's COVID order, Mack expressed uncertainty whether, sixteen months after the order was signed, West Virginia was still in a state of emergency. App. 22. Mack further stated that "I know I got an inspection sticker in the middle of COVID." App. 22. At the conclusion of the preliminary hearing, Petitioner's counsel admitted that Mack "is clearly unaware of" the effect of the Governor's COVID order. App. 24.

Although the Governor's COVID order states "the following statutory regulations are to be suspended for the duration of the State of Emergency: ... 14. [d]eadlines for annual vehicle inspections (W. Va. Code § 17C-16-1, *et seq.*)," it does not specifically cite West Virginia Code § 17C-16-9. App. 44, 88, 90. Rather, the order cites West Virginia Code § 17C-16-1 et seq., which includes "numerous subsections unrelated to the requirement that individuals have their vehicles inspected annually." App. 43-44. For example, West Virginia Code § 17C-16-5 "provides that the Superintendent of the State Police is responsible for prescribing requirements for inspection stations and issuing permits." App. 43. West Virginia Code § 17C-16-6 prohibits assigning or **w**ransferring an inspection. And West Virginia Code § 17C-16-8 prohibits anyone from making, issuing, or displaying a counterfeit inspection sticker. The court found it "difficult to fathom that the Order intended to suspend the aforesaid provisions," and "[t]he ambiguous language ... in the [COVID] Order's statutory citation leave numerous interpretations regarding which subsections were suspended." App. 44.

There was a 16-month lapse between the issuance of the COVID order and Petitioner's arrest, which justifies Mack's uncertainty whether West Virginia was still in a state of emergency on July 9, 2021, when Petitioner was stopped. Moreover, a search of the Governor's website reflects there were fifteen amendments to the original COVID order in 2020 and 2021. Office of the Governor, http://governor.wv.gov/Pages/Search.aspx?q=7-20 (last visited July 12, 2023). Considering this and the ambiguity of the statutory citation in the COVID Order, it was objectively reasonable for Trooper Mack to believe that [Petitioner's] expired inspection sticker violated the

law giving him reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop. *See Heien*, 574 U.S. 54. Thus, it was objectively reasonable for Trooper Mack to believe that Defendant's expired inspection sticker violated the law giving him reasonable suspicion to initiate the traffic stop.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should affirm the denial of Petitioner's motion to suppress and deny relief.